STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

RECEIVED

Aug 16 2024

S.C. SUPREME COURT

—————
Certiorari to Lexington County

Honorable Daniel McLeod Coble, Circuit Court Judge
—————

WILLIAM CRAIG CAUGHMAN,

PETITIONER

V.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2024-000060
—————

PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI
—————

SARAH E. SHIPE
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

ISSUE PRESENTED

Did the post-conviction relief court err finding defense counsel was not deficient for failing to retain an independent pathologist where petitioner's defense at trial was that decedent died as a result of negligent care while hospitalized *not* as a result of injuries sustained in the automobile accident as the state alleged and where petitioner was prejudiced by counsel's deficiency where the jury only considered the opinion of the state's pathologist who testified decedent died as a result of his injuries from the accident?

STATEMENT

In May 2013, a Lexington County grand jury indicted petitioner for hit and run accident resulting in death and obstruction of justice. App. 645-46; 745. On May 20, 2013, petitioner's case was called to trial before the Honorable Clifton Newman and a jury.¹ App. 1-483. Wayne Floyd represented petitioner.² App. 1. Assistant solicitors, Suzanne Mayes and Robert McNair, represented the state. App. 1.

Judge Newman granted petitioner's motion for directed verdict as to obstruction of justice. App. 420-24; 442, l. 5-443, l. 15; 444, ll. 4-20; 446, ll. 9-10. The jury found petitioner guilty of hit and run accident resulting in death. App. 464, ll. 9-14. Judge Newman sentenced petitioner to twenty years' imprisonment. App. 482, ll. 18-21.

On May 31, 2013, defense counsel filed a motion for new trial and reconsideration of sentence. App. 484-87. A hearing was held on the motions on May 21, 2015. App. 488-535. Judge Newman denied petitioner's motions by written order. App. 537.

Petitioner through his appellate defender appealed his conviction and sentence arguing 1) the trial court erred denying petitioner's motion to suppress evidence where police lacked jurisdiction to execute a search warrant on his property because the multi-jurisdiction agreement was invalid; and 2) the trial court erred considering petitioner's alleged alcohol use, where there was conflicting evidence presented on the issue and where the trial court suggested during sentencing things might have been different if petitioner had not been drinking. App. 746. Following briefing and oral argument the Court of Appeals affirmed petitioner's conviction and

¹ Portions of trial were missing or inaudible. Two hearings, September 16, 2016, and May 1, 2017, were held in an effort to reconstruct those missing or inaudible portions of trial so that meaningful appellate review would be possible. App. 538-644.

² Mr. Floyd was deceased at the time of petitioner's evidentiary hearing.

sentence. *State v. Caughman*, Op. No. 2020-UP-009 (S.C. Ct. App. filed Jan. 15, 2020).

Subsequently, petitioner filed an application for post-conviction relief (PCR). App. 648-67. On October 24, 2023, an evidentiary hearing was held before the Honorable Daniel Coble. App. 690-734. Ola Johnson represented petitioner and Donald Zelenka, assistant attorney general, represented the state. App. 690.

On December 19, 2023, Judge Coble signed an order denying PCR. App. 743-794. The court found petitioner “failed in his burden of proof in showing that counsel was deficient or prejudicial in failing to take steps to acquire the additional hospital records beyond the autopsy report or seek a pathologist to independent[ly] review those records.” App. 787-88.

The court found regardless of trial counsel’s failure to call an independent expert counsel was “well prepared with the information he had concerning the circumstances of the victim’s death from the autopsy report” and “[h]e utilized the information in his ‘vigorous’ cross-examination.” App. 790. Trial counsel was deceased at the time of petitioner’s evidentiary hearing. However, the PCR court intuited defense counsel’s strategy from the trial transcript and post-trial motions. App. 789. The court concluded defense counsel’s strategy was to identify matters that could have shown the accident may have caused great bodily injury but did not cause death, however he did not retain an independent pathologist to review the autopsy report or assist in receiving additional medical information. App. 789. Lastly, the court found that even if counsel was deficient in this regard petitioner failed to show any resulting prejudice. App. 791.

This petition follows.

ARGUMENT

The post-conviction relief court erred finding defense counsel was not deficient for failing to retain an independent pathologist where petitioner's defense at trial was that decedent ultimately died as a result of negligent care while hospitalized not as a result of injuries sustained in the automobile accident as the state alleged and where petitioner was prejudiced by counsel's deficiency where the jury only considered the opinion of the state's pathologist who testified decedent died as a result of his injuries from the accident.

Relevant facts

On February 21, 2010, Toby Morriss (decedent) was struck by a vehicle while riding his motorcycle. App. 82, ll. 2-18; 646. Detective Periera testified that he visited Morriss at Lexington Medical Center in the days following the accident. Periera stated Morriss was "coherent" and was scheduled to be released from the hospital. App. 341, ll. 8-18. Seven days after the accident, February 28, 2010, Morriss died in the hospital. App. 349, ll. 9-11.

Decedent's close friend, Jennifer Prather, testified that before the motorcycle accident he was in good health and was very active. She testified Morriss did not have any injuries or fractures before the accident. App. 85, l. 15-86, l. 10. Prather visited Morriss at Lexington Medical Center hours after the accident. She described him as "pretty beat up" and "conscious but a little confused." App. 88, ll. 14-23. Prather testified Morriss was scheduled to be discharged from Lexington Medical on March 1. She said while he was in the hospital Morriss had begun rehabilitation including walking up stairs. App. 93, ll. 3-23.

State's witness, Doctor Elizabeth Moffatt, testified as an expert in pathology and discussed her findings and opinions regarding cause of death. App. 346-71. Doctor Moffatt testified that she performed the autopsy of decedent on March 1, 2010. App. 349, ll. 7-8.

Moffatt's findings after autopsy were decedent had suffered blunt force trauma and sustained the following injuries: bilateral rib fractures, pulmonary contusions, left wrist fracture, hematomas in the area of the adrenal glands and around the pancreas, and thoracic vertebral fractures. App. 360-362. She opined the cause of death was a pulmonary embolus, a blood clots. App. 364, l. 13-365, l. 10. Moffatt explained the most common cause of blood clots is immobility. She went on to describe that almost all blood clots are caused by some risk factor and only a very small percentage "have a spontaneous land and most probably just don't have an identifying cause." App. 365, ll. 15-19. Moffatt opined the blood clot causing decedent's death was the result of trauma sustained from the accident. App. 366, ll. 18-25.

Closing arguments were not transcribed.³ App. 446, ll. 23-25.

The trial court instructed the jury as to accident resulting in death and accident resulting in great bodily injury. App. 455-57. The trial court also instructed the jury that "gross negligent or intentional activity on the part of the practitioner would relieve the [d]efendant of liability." App. 458, ll. 1-22.

At the evidentiary hearing PCR counsel asserted that he previously moved for funding to hire an expert in pathology to testify at the evidentiary hearing. PCR counsel's motion for funding to hire an independent pathologist was denied by the court. App. 696, ll. 12-23. The PCR order acknowledges the same in footnote nine. App. 787.

Petitioner indicated his first attorney, Mr. Breibart, planned to retain an independent pathologist for trial.⁴ App. 701, ll. 14-24. He testified the jury was not presented any evidence,

³ During the reconstruction hearing defense counsel testified he had no independent recollection of closing arguments. App. 584, ll. 18-24. Appellate counsel argued the record could not be reconstructed because, among other things, neither defense counsel nor assistant solicitor had recollection of the closing arguments that the record could not be reconstructed. App. 615, l. 15-616, l. 21; 632, ll. 20-22. Ultimately the court found the record was "adequately reconstructed the essence" of the transcript. App. 642, ll. 1-11; 795-806.

other than defense counsel's cross-examination of Dr. Moffatt, that a blood clot could have been caused by anything other than the accident. App. 708-09.

Discussion

Defense counsel was ineffective for failing to retain an independent pathologist for petitioner's trial where counsel's theory of the case and the defense presented at trial was that decedent's death was caused by hospital negligence and *not* injuries sustained in the accident.

Counsel must provide reasonably effective assistance under prevailing professional norms. *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 687–88 (1984). “[C]ounsel is strongly presumed to have rendered adequate assistance and made all significant decisions in the exercise of reasonable professional judgment.” *Id.* at 690. To receive relief, the applicant must show (1) counsel was deficient and (2) counsel's deficiency caused prejudice. *Stalk v. State*, 383 S.C. 559, 560–61, 681 S.E.2d 592, 593 (2009). Prejudice is defined as “a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different.” *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 693. “A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome.” *Id.* “Failure to make the required showing of either deficient performance or sufficient prejudice defeats the ineffectiveness claim.” *Id.* at 700.

“[C]ounsel has a duty to make reasonable investigations or to make a reasonable decision that makes particular investigations unnecessary.” *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 691. “[A]t a minimum, counsel has the duty to interview potential witnesses and to make an independent investigation of the facts and circumstances of the case.” *Ard v. Catoe*, 372 S.C. 318, 331, 642 S.E.2d 590, 597 (2007) (emphasis omitted) (citation omitted). “[A] particular decision not to

⁴ Initially, petitioner retained Richard Breibart to represent him in this case and subsequently Mr. Breibart was suspended and later disbarred from the practice of law. Wayne Floyd was later appointed as petitioner's attorney. App. 152, l. 22-153, l. 5; 693, ll. 10-15.

investigate must be directly assessed for reasonableness in all the circumstances, applying a heavy measure of deference to counsel's judgments.” *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 691. “[S]trategic choices made after less than complete investigation are reasonable precisely to the extent that reasonable professional judgments support the limitations on investigation.” *Id.* at 690–91. “[C]ounsel's conversations with the defendant may be critical to a proper assessment of counsel's investigation decisions[.]” *Id.* at 691.

“[T]he United States Supreme Court has held that the defendant must have ‘a fair opportunity to present his defense,’ thereby requiring the State to provide the ‘basic tools’ for an adequate defense to an indigent defendant.” *Bailey v. State*, 309 S.C. 455, 459, 424 S.E.2d 503, 506 (1992) (quoting *Ake v. Oklahoma*, 470 U.S. 68 (1985)). “Thus, although the State is not required to provide the indigent defendant with unlimited funding, it must ensure that the defendant has competent counsel and the services of experts necessary to a meaningful defense[.]” *Id.*

Counsel was deficient for failing to support petitioner’s defense by retaining an independent pathologist. It was unreasonable for counsel to rely on cross-examination of the state’s expert and not have an independent expert to explain to the jury there were other ways decedent’s blood clot could have occurred. Having heard no testimony from a defense expert the jury was left with only the state’s expert opinion and no other evidence regarding cause of death.

In *Reeves v. State*, the Court of Appeals held Reeves’ counsel was deficient for failing to call a medical expert to challenge the state’s medical evidence and Reeves was prejudiced by counsel’s deficiency. 415 S.C. 366, 782 S.E.2d 747, (Ct. App. 2015). In that case the Court found counsel was deficient “because he should have discussed hiring a medical expert with Reeves to more thoroughly challenge the State's medical evidence presented at trial.” *Id.* at 377,

782 S.E.2d at 752. The Court also found counsel did not provide a legitimate trial strategy for failing to consult with or call their own medical expert at trial. *Id.*

While the PCR court assumed defense counsel's possible strategy, it is impossible to say what counsel's strategy was, if any, for failing to call an expert. *Contra Legare*, 333 S.C. at 281, 509 S.E.2d at 475 (stating that where counsel articulates a valid trial strategy for failing to call an expert witness to testify at trial, such conduct will not be deemed ineffective); *Cherry v. State*, 300 S.C. 115, 117, 386 S.E.2d 624, 625 (1989) (providing an attorney's performance is not deficient if it is reasonable under professional norms). The trial court even suggested counsel might have called a defense expert at trial to which counsel did not respond. App. 357, ll. 16-19. Moreover, counsel did not articulate any strategy after trial at the post-trial hearing or reconstruction hearings when the issue came up in the context of additional medical records.

In *Reeves*, the Court found he was prejudiced by the deficiency where testimony by the expert at Reeves' PCR hearing explained there were alternative ways the injury could have occurred. *Reeves v. State*, 415 S.C. 366, 378, 782 S.E.2d 747, 753 (Ct. App. 2015). Those explanations were not presented at trial. *Id.*

As the PCR court noted generally an applicant must produce the testimony or evidence they suggest should have been presented at trial to prove prejudice. See *Bannister v. State*, 333 S.C. 298, 303, 509 S.E.2d 807, 809 (1998). However, here the fact that PCR counsel was denied his request for funding should be considered in the analysis of prejudice. Petitioner was prejudiced by counsel's deficiency where the jury did not have any evidence of hospital negligence to consider during deliberations. Ultimately the jury only had the opinion of the state's expert to consider and defense counsel's speculation through his cross examination of the state's pathologist. Without evidence supporting defense counsel's theory the jury was unable to

come to any other conclusion regarding cause of death.

CONCLUSION

By reason of the foregoing argument, a writ of certiorari should be issued to allow full briefing on this issue.



Sarah E. Shipe
Appellate Defender

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER