STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Supreme Court

RECEIVED

Jan 17 2025

S.C. SUPREME COURT

CERTIORARI TO LEXINGTON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas
Honorable Daniel McLeod Coble, Circuit Judge
Appellate Case No. 2024-000060

WILLIAM CRAIG CAUGHMAN,

Petitioner,

vs.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

Respondent.

**RETURN TO PETITION FOR
WRIT OF CERTIORARI**

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA
S.C. Bar No. 5758
Deputy Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, South Carolina 29211
(803) 734-3601

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

ARGUMENT WHY CERTIORARI SHOULD BE DENIED

- I. Certiorari is not warranted where the PCR Court reasonably found that counsel was not deficient in failing to retain an independent pathologist to assist in the defense where the victim died in hospital after he began recovery and to assist in reviewing the medical records related to the victim's death and counsel was prepared to address the potential contributing causes from the information he had received . Further, 6th Amendment prejudice had not been shown where there is no evidence presented that the cause of death did not arise from injuries related to the hit and run other than what counsel Floyd had presented related to the embolism.**

Petitioner contends the PCR Court erred in rejecting the argument that counsel Floyd was ineffective for failing to retain a pathologist to counter the State's expert pathologist regarding the victim's cause of death. The Petitioner suggests that counsel Floyd was deficient in failing to acquire the additional hospital records of Toby Morriss prior to trial to further investigate and determine if there was an intervening failure to the part of the hospital which may have caused the blood clot that was the immediate cause of death. The Applicant speculates asserts that if counsel had been more diligent in acquiring the hospital records beyond what was provided in the autopsy report that he was provided, it could have led to a verdict of hit and run causing great bodily injury rather than hit and run resulting in death. There is a sound basis to support the PCR court's conclusion that the Petitioner has failed to prove deficient performance and prejudice.

How the Issue Presented Itself at Trial

During the trial, the issue of proximate cause of the death because the death resulted from a blood clot was discussed. The State initially proffered the testimony of Dr. Elizabeth J. Moffatt, the pathologist from Lexington Medical Center (LMC) who conducted the autopsy on the victim. This testimony was proffered as a result of trial counsel's objection that any judgment or finding as to injuries, treatment received, or anything concerning the hospital was inadmissible hearsay since Dr. Moffatt did not actually treat the victim. (App.p. 347-351; Trial Tr. 195-97; R. 441-43).

During her *in camera* testimony, trial counsel questioned Dr. Moffatt about whether she used information obtained from the victim's LMC medical records to assist her with the autopsy. In response, Dr. Moffatt explained that, since she is an LMC pathologist, she was able to access any of the victim's LMC records "as needed" to conduct the autopsy and make the medical findings required. App.p. 354 (Trial Tr. 200; R. 446). Trial counsel then asked Dr. Moffatt whether she would have been able to make her final findings without those records. Dr. Moffatt responded that she would have still reached the same conclusion in terms of the diagnosis. App.p. 354-355 (Trial Tr. 200-01; R. 446-47). Finally, he asked if the records were necessary to form her opinion in this case. She explained that the records were necessary in that they exist and are available. She further clarified that it would be malpractice not to review them. App.p. 355 (Trial Tr. 201; R. 447).

After trial counsel concluded his cross-examination, Deputy Solicitor Mayes asserted that Dr. Moffatt's testimony regarding her findings is consistent with Rule 703, SCRE,³ which allows for an expert to make reference to any information that she had reasonably relied upon as other input and in reaching an informed decision. App.p. 355 (Trial Tr. 201; R. 447). Deputy Solicitor Mayes stated that would be Dr. Moffatt's ultimate opinion not only as to the cause of death but the medical findings in general. App.p. 355 (Trial Tr. 201; R. 447).

In response, trial counsel Floyd asserted that the State was attempting to produce evidence through Dr. Moffatt regarding the victim's medical records that do not provide any sort of connection with the represented cause of death. App.p. 355-356 (Trial Tr. 201-02; R. 447-48). Since the State did not provide trial counsel with the documentation Dr. Moffatt relied upon, other than the autopsy report, trial counsel requested sanctions under Rule 5(C)(2), which would prohibit the State from using the information at trial. App.p. 356-357 (Trial Tr. 202; R. 448). Finally, trial counsel argued the State

³ Rule 703 provides that "[t]he facts or data in the particular case upon which an expert bases an opinion or inference may be those perceived by or made known to the expert at or before the hearing. If of a type reasonably relied upon by experts in the particular field in forming opinions or inferences upon the subject, the facts or data need not be admissible in evidence."

was required to prove the cause of death of the victim in a manner that would satisfy the case authorities as to the nexus between the leaving the scene of the accident and the death of the victim. App.p. 356-357 (Trial Tr. 202; R. 448).

The Court ultimately found:

You have mentioned Rule Five and mentioned hearsay. An expert can rely upon hearsay in forming an expert opinion. The Rule Five issue deals with whether the statute requires the State to provide the defense with records that they are going to use with an expert reviewing medical records; that that must be provided to you, the medical records.

The State says, well, we provided the autopsy report which gives the witness' findings, and that satisfies Rule Five. The autopsy report gives the witness' findings and opinions.

Outside of this position, I don't find the State is required to provide or produce every record that formed the basis of the party's opinion generally, since the autopsy report was provided to the defense. The autopsy report provided her findings and conclusions.

Had the Defendant attempted to provide some independent autopsy proceeding which alluded to the medical records of the deceased, then they would have been provided to the Defendant. I don't think that that constitutes a Rule Five violation.

I will allow the question.

App.p. 356-357 (Trial Tr. 202-03; R. 448-49). (emphasis added)

In her court testimony, Dr. Moffatt confirmed that she reviewed medical records related to the hospitalization of Mr. Morris. She testified that she found the victim was admitted to the hospital on February 21. She described the bruising she found on the body, consistent with a motor vehicle accident in addition to the various fractures. App.p. 361-364; R. 453-456. Trial Tr. 207-210. She described the hematoma to the adrenal glands as a "soft tissue bruise or blood clot." App.p. 364; R. 456. Trial Tr. 210. She determined the ultimate cause of death was a pulmonary embolus. She stated it was a blood clot that travels through the blood stream and then breaks free and travels through the vena system and is stopped. It straddled the pulmonary arteries where there was clotting in both the right and left arteries. She stated this was caused by a risk factor of immobility, a small percentage is spontaneous. As to the

causes, she declared the immobility of being on bedrest and surgery, trauma, fractures as the top causes, but there are other causes like pregnancy, certain medications, smoking, and emphysema. App.p. 365; R. 457. Trial Tr. 211.

She concluded in the direct testimony that the blood clot was the result of the trauma. She stated:

Q. All right. Now, if a patient has been hospitalized in a patient 37 years old who has been hospitalized for up to seven days, can you tell us whether or not the injury -- whether that would contribute to inability to withstand the breaking off of the [blood] clot?

A. Yes.

Q. Other factors that you mentioned, would trauma and surgery also relate to risk factors for a blood clot?

A. Yes, the mechanism first of all produced immobility or when you have surgery or trauma the blood clotting system is activated as a sort of mechanism of repair the body's trauma by vascular intervention or trauma to the vessels, and there are, of course, blood vessels all over the body and in all organs, bones included. So when that clotting system is activated, it can propagate clot formation.

Q. Tell us, if any, the significance of multiple fractures as opposed to one fracture?

A. Increased risk.

Q. Dr. Moffatt, do you have an opinion to a reasonable degree of medical certainty as to whether the blood clot was a result of trauma to Toby Morriss on February 21st of 2010?

A. Yes, I do.

Q. What is that opinion?

A. That it was the result of trauma sustained in that collision.

App.p. 366; R. 458. Trial Tr.p. 212. (*emphasis added*).

On cross-examination, counsel Floyd pointed out that at the time of his death, Morriss was preparing to be discharged at some future date and was preparing to ambulate. On that date he was walking. Dr. Moffatt stated blood clots vary, but not in all cases where a risk factor can be determined. She confirmed the only surgery done was to the wrist to repair the broken bone. It was done with

anesthesia. Her opinion was that all the injuries were consistent with the motor vehicle accident a few days before the death. She opined that the blood clot was a few days old as opposed to weeks old when it might not be visible. App.p. 368-369; R. 460-461. Trial Tr. 214-15. She admitted that blood thinners can be used. Counsel Floyd asked:

Q. Do you know why they [blood thinners] were not given?

A. I do not.

He inquired that they can be used when there is a risk of a blood clot. She was unclear how many days the victim had been immobile. She stated she thought he had been mobile for a day. This was because he had somewhat of an inability because of a cervical collar at some point but refused to speculate otherwise. App.p. 370; R. 462 Trial Tr. 216.

On re-direct, Solicitor Mayes developed through Dr. Moffatt that she would not expect a person to be mobile with thoracic vertebral fractures. She further opined she did not think to a reasonable degree of medical certainty that this blood clot formed spontaneously. App.p. 370; R. 462. Trial Tr. 216. On re-cross, she confirmed that he was ambulating during part of his admission. Floyd concluded his examination developing possibilities:

Q. And you can't say with absolute certainty what caused his death?

A. Very few things are a hundred percent but based on the evidence that I have he had those factors, two or three factors for a blood clot.

Q. So, you can't say with absolute certainty, and no one can say with absolute certainty?

...

Q. Well, how many of the factors would have to be present before you could say with absolute certainty that a blood clot was not spontaneous?

A. I have confirmed the factors in my autopsy report and in my testimony, but I cannot say with one hundred percent certainty what was responsible for the blood clot.

App.p. 371; R. 463. Tr., p, 217.

In making his later motion for a directed verdict on the hit and run death case, counsel Floyd urged the following:

MR. FLOYD: . . . We would next move for a directed verdict on these two grounds. First of all, Your Honor, the State has failed to prove that the collision is what caused the death of Mr. Morriss.

It has not proven that anything my client did was the actual cause of death. **There was testimony about a blood clot but there is no proof that the blood clot did not occur simultaneously and unrelated to those injuries that were described.**

The State provided no evidence whatsoever that would prove — as to why he died. He survived the collision, was taken to the hospital and was known to be mobile before he died. There is no chain of causation as required between the accident and this man's death.

We asked about the toxicology reports because that would show whether or not he was being given any drugs to — any drug that would have prevented such a thing from occurring such as a blood thinner of some kind. There was no such testimony, and the State has failed to establish causation of death.

THE COURT: Are you saying there was simple negligence or gross negligence?

MR. FLOYD: I would say gross negligence, Your Honor, because it is such a known risk factor.

THE COURT: The South Carolina Code says that all persons driving a vehicle — a driver of vehicle involved in an accident resulting in injury or death of a person must stop their vehicle and — this is South Carolina Code [56-5-1210]. It says a driver involved in an accident resulting in injury to or death of a person shall immediately stop -- no question. That's the code. It says the driver shall immediately stop when involved in an accident.

Now, the South Carolina Code goes to the impact on the victim so it is saying in the immediate sense -- it is required that a death -- charging a person with not stopping immediately, regardless of the chain of causation, so I could not direct a verdict of acquittal on the charge of leaving the scene of a wreck. You can see that when you consider the statute.

The way the word immediately is used — it says resulting in death of a person immediately -- then it says shall stop.

The (inaudible) Code says resulting in injury or death shall immediately stop, rather than resulting in death immediately shall stop. South Carolina says immediately shall stop.

MR. FLOYD: We would suggest that immediately goes to define injury or death of a person -- there is immediate injury or death,

THE COURT: That would mean as long as there is an indication a person is alive there is no indication to stop. There is also mention of leaving the scene with great bodily injury. You may have immediate injury and not have immediate death. How about it, Ms. Mayes?

SOL. MAYES: Yes, sir, Your Honor. The State does not agree with the interpretation

posed by Mr. Floyd. There is absolutely nothing to suggest that that was what was intended by the legislation. The words, immediately shall stop at the scene of the accident, describe the duty of the driver, regardless of whether it resulted in injury or death.

THE COURT: If you look at the Georgia law, it is just the opposite of South Carolina law, so it doesn't do any good to consider that, to look at Georgia law.

MR. FLOYD: I think it would rise to the same interpretation, Your Honor.

THE COURT: All right. Well, under a reasonable interpretation of the statute, if the State's evidence is correct, the Defendant could be found guilty of leaving the scene of an accident involving injury or death. It is up to the jury to determine whether the death, Mr. Morriss death, was proximately caused by the wreck as claimed by the State. They heard the pathologist.

So, Mr. Floyd, It is the jury's determination to make. I would have to deny that motion.

App.p. 424-427; R. 516-519. Trial Tr. 270-273.

The issue came up again at trial in reference to the instructions on whether there should be a lesser included offense of hit and run with great bodily injury. App.p. 433; R. 525. Trial Tr. 279. Judge Newman decided to leave it to the jury and charge the lesser offense.

THE COURT: Well, there can be great bodily injury not resulting in death. I think it is an issue for the jury, given the fact that you can leave the hospital and start to take therapy with the expectation of recovery from the great bodily injury. The jury would have to determine the proximate cause issue regarding the death. You have brought up the issue of negligence, gross negligence, within the victim's hospital treatment. The great bodily injury could have been the cause of death as well. If there was a charge of great bodily injury, the jury would have to answer the question of whether or not he is guilty of leaving the scene of the accident causing great bodily injury, and not resulting in death.

App.p. 433 – 434; R. 525-526. Trial Tr. 279-280. The closing arguments were not transcribed.

In his jury instructions, after defining the elements of the two crimes instructed “proximate cause” in the following way.

Now, in order to be guilty of the offense — in order to prove the Defendant guilty of hit and run accident that resulted in death, or hit and run accident resulting in great bodily injury, the State must prove that the accident in question was the proximate cause of the great bodily injury to or death of the victim.

Proximate cause means the direct cause. It is the immediate cause. It is the efficient cause. It is that cause without which the injury to or death of the victim would not have resulted.

There must be a chain of causation from the time of the accident inflicted by the Defendant until the time of the victim's death. Proximate cause does not necessarily mean death occurring immediately following the accident. There may be more than one proximate cause.

In fact, two or more persons may combine together to be the proximate cause of injury to or the death of a person.

The Defendant may be regarded as the proximate cause if it is a contributing cause of injury to or the death of the victim. The fact that more than one probable cause contributed to the injury to, or the death of the victim does not relieve the Defendant of responsibility.

The Defendant's acts need not be the sole cause of the injury or death, but it must be the proximate cause contributing to the injury of or death of the victim.

It is not a defense to show that the victim might have recovered if he had been treated according to the most approved surgical or medical standards, or that if a reasonably prudent doctor would have treated him, or even by showing that the treatment was negligent. If, however, the death was caused not by the wound or injury that the victim had, but was caused by the gross, erroneous, willful, deliberate treatment, the Defendant would not be liable. In other words, negligence on the part of someone else would not relieve the Defendant from liability if the injury was the proximate cause of the victim's death.

However, gross negligent or intentional activity on the part of the practitioner would relieve the Defendant of liability. The propriety of the medical procedure is a critical question to be determined, criminal liability, criminal intent is required.

For example, the negligence may be proven by other things for a particular crime, which might be purpose, intent, knowledge, recklessness or criminal negligence.

App.p. 456-458; R. 548-550. Trial Tr. 302- 304.

In the motion for reconsideration hearing held May 21, 2015, the issue concerning the medical records was presented again as the defense raised an issue complaining that the additional medical records had not been provided. App.p. 494-495; R. 581. Counsel Floyd urged that the pathologist testimony should have been stricken under Rule 5 because the medical records, other than the autopsy report were not provided to them. App.p. 495; R. 581. Floyd acknowledged that the pathologist had testified that the pulmonary embolism was a result of the accident, but she admitted that anybody could

have a pulmonary embolism at any time. App.p. 509; R. 591-92. He complained that since she referred to some hospital records that had not been provided to him or the State, it was a Rule 5 violation. He admitted the additional records were never put in evidence. It was reported that the pathologist had reviewed some records. App.p. 505; R. 593. Floyd asserted, other than the autopsy report, he never saw the additional records and that they were not presented in court. App.p. 505-509.

Suzanne Mayes at the reconsideration hearing described the access that the pathologist had to the records of the Medical Center. App.p. 522; R. p. 619. She stated the pathologist relied upon the records but did not produce the records in her autopsy report or testimony. App.p. 522-23; R. 620. Hearing Tr. 35-36. She discussed with Judge Newman pages two and five of the autopsy report where the pathologist addressed the information she looked at in the patient data base and included her opinion on the cause of death. She stated this information put the State and defense on notice that she had reviewed the records. This was provided to both sides, according to Solicitor Mayes. App.p. 526; R.623. Counsel Floyd argued that this information would have put the State on notice that they needed to provide the additional records to the defense. App.p. 528; R. 625.

At the reconsideration hearing, Judge Newman expressed his recollection concerning the presentation of cause of death:

With regard to the issue of whether or not there was some intervening negligence which caused the death versus the injuries that he sustained on February 21st, whether that was the cause of death, that's something that I remember distinctly being attune to and to have the jury closely examine that issue and make a decision on that question. Mr. Floyd engaged in a rather rigorous cross-examination of State's witnesses who offered opinions that the death was caused by the wreck and not by any medical malpractice or any other independent or intervening in jury.

App.p. 534; R. 631. Hearing Tr. 47, l. 14-24.⁴

⁴ Prior to the PCR hearing in this case, appointed PCR counsel moved to obtain the victim's medical records and professional services of an expert in pathology for purpose of this PCR hearing. In an order filed by the Honorable George McFadden filed March 7, 2023, the request was denied. Judge Coble confirmed that Judge McFadden's order precluded the Petitioner from either acquiring the medical records of the victim beyond what counsel and PCR counsel had received or the funding to

The PCR Court found that the Petitioner failed in his burden of proof in showing that counsel was deficient or prejudicial in failing to take steps to acquire the additional hospital records beyond the autopsy report or seek a pathologist to independently review those records. App.p. 787- 792.

Strickland notes that there are “countless ways to provide effective assistance in any given case. Even the best criminal defense attorneys would not defend a particular client in the same way.” 466 U.S. at 689. Rare are the situations in which the “wide latitude counsel must have in making tactical decisions” will be limited to any one technique or approach. *Harrington v. Richter* 562 U.S. at 106 (quoting *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 689). “It can be assumed that in some cases counsel would be deemed ineffective for failing to consult or rely on experts, but even that formulation is sufficiently general that state courts would have wide latitude in applying it.” *Harrington*, 562 U.S. at 106. Our Supreme Court has held that counsel’s failure to retain or call an expert witness at trial to rebut the State’s expert testimony will not necessarily rise to the level of deficient performance where he undertakes a vigorous cross-examination of the State’s witness. *Frasier v. State*, 306 S.C. 158, 160–61, 410 S.E.2d 572, 573 (1991).

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